DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEALS

APPEAL NO. 23-CV-422

Clerk of the Court Received 04/02/2024 12:29 PM Resubmitted 04/02/2024 02:34 PM Resubmitted 04/02/2024 03:46 PM Resubmitted 04/02/2024 04:48 PM Filed 04/02/2024 04:48 PM

MP PPH, LLC, Appellant,

v.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, et al., Appellees.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIEF FOR APPELLANT MP PPH, LLC

Vernon W. Johnson, III* (#423756) NIXON PEABODY LLP 799 Ninth Street, N.W., Suite 500 Washington, D.C. 20001-5327 (202) 585-8000 (202) 585-8080 (fax)

Kathryn Bonorchis (#977709) LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH, LLP 100 Light Street, Suite 1300 Baltimore, MD 21202 (410) 525-6409 (410) 779-3910 (fax)

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

Whether the Superior Court of the District of Columbia abused its discretion and/or otherwise erred in issuing its April 26, 2023 Memorandum Opinion and Order Granting Plaintiff's Renewed Motion to Adjudicate Defendant MP PPH, LLC in Civil Contempt, including errors of law and factual determinations that were plainly wrong or without evidence to support them, or otherwise deficient, and rulings that violated the substantive, procedural, and Constitutional rights of the Appellant.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Owner pursues this appeal from an unprecedented, extraordinary, devastating, and improper Civil Contempt Order arising out of a negotiated Consent Order. (App. 110-45.) The Civil Contempt Order, among other things, imposed a retroactive and prospective rent reduction starting at fifty percent and escalating from there (App. 142-43), going beyond the terms of the Consent Order and even the relief requested on the related Renewed Civil Contempt Motion.

This case commenced on July 1, 2021 when Appellee District of Columbia (the "District") filed its Complaint alleging violations of the Tenant Receivership Act (the "TRA"), <u>D.C. Code</u> §§ 42-3651.01–3651.08, and the Consumer Protection Procedures Act (the "CPPA"), <u>D.C. Code</u> §§ 28-3901–3913, with respect to alleged conditions at the Marbury Plaza Apartments ("Marbury Plaza"), a 674-unit residential rental Apartment Complex located in the District of Columbia at 2300-

2330 Good Hope Road, S.E. Marbury Plaza comprises two eleven story high rise towers and seven smaller "garden-style" buildings, in which a total of approximately 2,500 persons reside. The District named as Defendants the Property Owner, Appellant MP PPH, LLC (the "Owner") and the then Property Manager, Vantage Management, Inc. ("Vantage"). The Owner is a Delaware limited liability company. The case was assigned initially to the Honorable Judge Heidi M. Pasichow.

With its Complaint, the District filed an Opposed Motion for Preliminary Injunction. After Oppositions were filed, and after Vantage had been replaced as Property Manager with another firm, TM Associates, Inc. ("TM Associates"), the Owner and District negotiated and agreed on terms for a Consent Order to resolve the issues posed by the Preliminary Injunction Motion. Judge Pasichow ultimately entered the Consent Order on March 2, 2022, as part of an omnibus Order that not only entered the Consent Order, but disposed of several other pending motions. (App. 56-71.)

By separate Order dated March 30, 2022, the Superior Court granted the District leave to file a First Amended Complaint. That First Amended Complaint is the operative claim of the District in this case. (App. 72-92.) The First Amended Complaint, like the initial Complaint, is based on the TRA and CPPA, and adds Dr. Anthony Pilavas ("Dr. Pilavas"), the Managing Member of the Owner, as a Defendant. (App. 72-92.) No tenants of Marbury Plaza are named as parties to the

lawsuit. (App. 72.) The amended lawsuit included seven specific requests for relief (the same as the initial Complaint): (a) appointment of a receiver to develop and supervise the repair and rehabilitation of Marbury Plaza; (b) contribution of funds from the Defendants, in excess of rent collected, to abate claimed Housing Code violations; (c) contribution of funds from the Defendants, in excess of rent collected, to address claimed threats to health, safety, or security of the tenants or the public; (d) restitution in the form of disgorgement of rents paid; (e) civil penalties under the CPPA; (f) reasonable attorneys' fees; (f) costs; and (g) further relief deemed just and proper.¹ (App. 90-91.)

On March 25, 2022, the District filed a Motion for an Order Directing Defendant MP PPH LLC to Show Cause as to Why It Should Not Be Held in Contempt, which the Owner opposed. Recognizing certain issues (namely, tenant refusal to provide access to residential Units at Marbury Plaza and unforeseen asbestos remediation and the supply chain issues affecting the entire nation) were inhibiting the Owner's ability to complete some of the items required by the Consent Order, the Owner filed a May 5, 2022 Motion to Modify the Consent Order, which the District opposed. Meanwhile, the Owner made significant progress in addressing

¹ The District did not act on the request for appointment of a receiver until August 31, 2023, when it filed a related motion. Eventually, that request was resolved by a further Consent Order entered on February 7, 2024.

items required by the Consent Order, and filed related Monthly Reports with the Court to document those advances.

Judge Pasichow denied without prejudice both the District's Motion for an Order to Show Cause and the Owner's Motion to Modify the Consent Order by Order dated October 18, 2022. In doing so, she indicated "the Court strongly encourages the parties to engage in good-faith discussion regarding both the possible modification of the Consent Order, and the parties' attempted compliance with the Consent Order as it is entered in the March 2, 2022, Court Order." Order dated October 15, 2022 at 14. She held "it is abundantly clear to the Court that access to these units due to tenant/occupant refusal is an issue" and:

Based upon the information before it, the Court cannot find that Defendant MP PPH has failed to comply with the Consent Order. Although Defendant MP PPH has not completed all the items within the Consent Order in the fashion or speed to which Plaintiff District would like, the Court simply cannot find by clear and convincing evidence that Defendant MP PPH has not made good faith efforts to complete these necessary repairs and upgrades. Thus, the Court denies without prejudice Plaintiff District's Motion for an Order Directing Defendant MP PPH, LLC to Show Cause as to why it Should Not be Held in Contempt.

Id. at 18.

In the same Order, the Court also gave guidance to the parties regarding the future course of the litigation:

The Court is aware that the parties in this this case are zealously representing their [clients], despite a series of challenges. However, the Court would also like to emphasize the importance of serving the needs of all those affected by this litigation, especially the residents of Marbury Plaza, and the Court takes great care to ensure that this litigation is effectuated as smoothly

as possible. The Court believes the parties are diligently working toward resolution of the issues within this litigation, but there is still work to do.

See id. at 20.

In the same spirit, Judge Pasichow also encouraged the Owner and the District at an October 31, 2022 Status Conference at which all of these issues were being discussed in detail to work together to jointly draft a Notice to the tenants of Marbury Plaza, which was distributed to the tenants on November 16, 2022, and provided information on the Owner's continuing efforts at mold investigation and remediation, the process being followed, information tenants could expect to receive regarding access needed to Units, and the need for tenant cooperation (including access to Units). (Eleventh Monthly Report of Defendant MP PPH, LLC Pursuant to the Consent Order Entered by the Court on March 2, 2022, filed at ¶ 8 and attachment; H'g Trans. Oct. 31, 2022 at pages/lines 9:18-28:5.)

As of January 1, 2023, the case was reassigned from Judge Pasichow to Judge Neal E. Kravitz. The District seized on the reassignment by refiling its renewed Motion for an Order Directing Defendant MP PPH, LLC to Show Cause as to Why it Should Not be Held in Contempt (the "Renewed Contempt Motion") on January 5, 2022.² (App. 93-109). The Owner filed a timely Opposition to the Motion, and

² A total of twenty-four exhibits were filed with the Motion, including a copy of the Eleventh Monthly Report and the Notice to tenants that Judge Pasichow had encouraged the District and Owner to agree on and send (refiled as Ex. 21 to the Renewed Contempt Motion).

the District filed a Reply. At a January 20, 2023 Status Conference (by which time the Court had not had the opportunity to review the Motion or Opposition that had been filed), the Court set a further Status Hearing for February 2, 2023. At that time, the Superior Court set an evidentiary hearing for March 13-14, 2023 (with the possibility of continuing through March 15, 2023 if needed), and set deadlines for prehearing identification of witnesses and exhibits.

The evidentiary hearing ended up taking all three days, on March 13-15, 2023. The District presented seven witnesses, the Owner presented six witnesses, and various exhibits were received in evidence. Three of the District's witnesses were tenants of Marbury Plaza: Barbara Cooper ("Ms. Cooper"), Francine Gladden ("Ms. Gladden"), and Sandra Bray ("Ms. Bray"). The Owner and the District filed post-hearing Briefs, and the Court held a further Hearing on April 13, 2023 for closing arguments on the District's Show Cause Motion.

Judge Kravitz issued the Contempt Order on April 26, 2023. (App. 110-45.) The Owner promptly contested the Contempt Order and the crushing relief provided therein, by indicating its intent to pursue an interlocutory appeal and immediately asking the Court to reconsider, or to clarify, vacate, alter, and/or amend the Contempt Order and to stay it pending reconsideration and the appeal. After this appeal was timely noticed on May 12, 2023, Judge Kravitz issued a terse two-page Order on May 22, 2023, denying the motions for reconsideration and for a stay. (App. 153-

54.) In doing so, he stated "[t]he court could provide a point-by-point rebuttal of the defendant's arguments but concludes that none is necessary in the circumstances," he found no "aspect of the order of April 26, 2023 warrants modification or clarification at this time," and he held he was "not persuaded that any aspect of the order of April 26, 2023 warrants modification or clarification at this time." (App. 153-54.)

On appeal, the Owner asked this Court to grant a stay pending appeal. This Court denied the motion to stay by Order dated June 9, 2023, finding the monetary penalties imposed by the Contempt Order insufficient to establish irreparable harm, with Judge Roy W. McLeese dissenting and indicating he would grant the stay and expedite the appeal. The Owner made a subsequent request for rehearing and for rehearing *en banc*, which request was denied by Order dated August 17, 2023.

Given the proceedings in the Superior Court before Judge Kravitz remain pending, further developments below relate to the Contempt Motion, the basis on which the Superior Court relied in granting it and refusing to reconsider, modify, or stay its relief, as cited herein.

In addition, due to the overbearing financial penalties imposed by the Contempt Order, the Owner has had to file a voluntary petition in bankruptcy in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the District of Columbia on August 31, 2023 under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code (seeking a reorganization), which petition remains pending. In that proceeding, the Bankruptcy Court directed that the rent abatements imposed by the

Contempt Order were unenforceable from and after December 1, 2023. *MP PPH, LLC v. District of Columbia (In re MP PPH, LLC)*, 2024 WL 1087492 (Case No. 23-00246-ELG, Chapter 11, Adv. Proc. 23-10032-ELG) (Bankr. D.C. Mar. 12, 2024) (pages A-1 through A-16 hereto). The remainder of the Contempt Order's provisions remain pending and even the rent abatements remain partially unaffected (they are unenforceable as of December 1, 2023 but were in effect prior to that date and otherwise potentially viable; and some related rent credits remain such that tenants are effectively not paying rent).

On this appeal, therefore, the Owner respectfully requests the Contempt Order be reversed and vacated, that the matter be remanded for further proceedings, and that the Owner be granted such other and further relief as may be appropriate.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. Introduction.

This appeal involves a civil contempt proceeding arising out of a negotiated Consent Order. On April 26, 2023, the Superior Court issued the Contempt Order finding noncompliance with the Consent Order, and thereby imposed a series of untenable directives, which in significant part are incapable of being purged, including: retroactive and prospective fifty percent (50%) rent reductions for all residents, past and present, from June 1, 2022 forward, numbering over 2,500 persons (even though only three current tenants testified at the March 13-15, 2023

evidentiary hearing), and with further reductions taking effect in the future; modifications of lease rent terms on which possession of apartments was agreed on between the Owner and tenant; directives to modify other pending Superior Court proceedings over which Judge Kravitz did not preside; and other affirmative injunctive directives to the Owner. (App. 141-45.)

This sweeping relief was ordained notwithstanding that none of the tenants in question are parties to the lawsuit and the relief goes far beyond the terms of the Consent Order or what the District even asked for. The relief granted has devastated the Owner and the Apartment Complex, implicated the interests of a nonparty secured lender, the Property Manager, and the tenants, as well as longstanding District of Columbia landlord-tenant laws and procedures. The relief was imposed improperly as an immediate civil contempt penalty, without any conditional relief or opportunity to purge as the applicable procedures require under the circumstances, and was entirely disproportionate to any conduct proven and therefore further in violation of fundamental Constitutional rights (as one of many related concerns).

B. The Consent Order.

The Consent Order (App. 56-71) was negotiated between the Owner and the District and entered by Judge Pasichow on March 2, 2022. Its provisions spanned twenty paragraphs, setting forth a series of specific requirements: (1) that if the Property Manager were replaced again, the Owner would ensure that various

licensing, experience, and other qualifications were met; (2) that within thirty days, certain pest extermination work would be done (with monthly treatments to continue for at least six months thereafter and then as requested by tenants), and that the District would be provided with the current schedules for security officers at Marbury Plaza; (3) that within thirty days, an assessment would be conducted of plumbing, heating ventilation and air conditioning ("HVAC") systems, elevators and the chairlift, mold, electrical hazards and fire/safety hazards, and exterior lighting: (4) that within thirty days, the Property Manager would conduct training on fair housing practices and provide tenants with protocols for dealing with certain issues; (5) that within sixty days, certain Notices of Infraction ("NOIs") issued by the Department of Consumer and Regulatory Affairs would be resolved, that certain inspection repairs in eighteen Units identified in a report by CTI District Services, Inc. ("CTI") would be completed, and that points of entry to buildings on the Property would be secured by specifically prescribed means; that security cameras be installed and maintained in laundry rooms, that exterior lighting conform with the related assessment, that laundry facilities be operational, that security personnel have hours and a schedule consistent with the existing Security Contract, and that a representative of the Metropolitan Police Department ("MPD") be permitted to

³ Although the Consent Order refers to "chairlifts," there is actually only one chairlift at Marbury Plaza, in the tower building at 2300 Good Hope Road, S.E.

assess the adequacy of security measures; (6) within 90 days, certain mold remediation work be completed; (7) within 120 days, that HVAC issues identified in the related assessment be remediated, that plumbing issues identified in the related assessment be remediated, that defects with the elevators and the chairlift be remediated or the items replaced, that roof replacement and repair be performed, and that the pool be safe for use and enjoyment; (8) within 150 days, the Court hold a Status Conference regarding the progress and status; (9) that the Owner provide certain information, including reports and contracts, to the District, along with a monthly report to the Court, highlighting the progress being made on each item in the Consent Order, starting on January 5, 2022; (10) that repairs and replacements be funded by the Owner; (11) that solar power generation be provided on completion of the roof repair and replacement; and (12) that a letter concerning the Consent Order be sent to all tenants within five business days. (App. 65-71.)

In addition to the information to be provided by the District, the Owner was required on three weeks' prior notice or as otherwise agreed to give the District access to units and common areas at Marbury Plaza. (App. 70.) Further, if the District sought to bring to the Superior Court any Motion or request any relief related to the Owner's compliance with the Consent Order, as a precondition of doing so, the District was required to provide at least two business days' notice, unless the

District determined there was "imminent danger." (App. 70, citing <u>D.C. Code</u> § 42-3131.01(c)(1)(F).)

C. The District's Renewed Contempt Motion.

On January 5, 2023, just after the case was reassigned to Judge Kravitz, with a January 20, 2023 Status Conference scheduled, the District filed its renewed "Motion for an Order Directing Defendant MP PPH, LLC to Show Cause as to Why it Should Not be Held in Contempt." (App. 93-109.) The District did not comply with the requirement to provide two business days' notice or certify that such compliance had been done or was excused by an "imminent danger." The District took the position that the "Effective Date" of the Consent Order was January 28, 2022, rather than the March 2, 2022 date it was docketed, signed, and entered, and raised six specific claims in which, it was alleged, the Owner had failed to comply with the Consent Order: (1) mold assessment and remediation; (2) assessment of leaks, hot water issues, and HVAC systems; (3) the requirement for a further six months of extermination services; (4) completion of "several security upgrades"; (5) lack of "fully functioning laundry rooms"; and (6) lack of "fully functioning chair lifts and elevators." (App. 94.)

The District cited <u>D.C.</u> <u>Code</u> § 11-944(a) and other applicable law, and that it "would welcome an evidentiary hearing on this matter to the Court can hear from tenants directly." (App. 95, 108.) The proposed order with the filing only asked that

a hearing be set for the "Defendants" (sic) to appear and show cause "why they should not be held in contempt for violating the terms of the Court's Consent Order."

At a further Status Hearing on February 2, 2023, the Superior Court set the evidentiary hearing for March 13-14, 2023 (with the possibility of continuing through March 15, 2023 if needed), and set deadlines for prehearing identification of witnesses and exhibits.

D. The Evidentiary Hearing.

At the March 13-15, 2023 evidentiary hearing, in Opening Statement, the District asserted fifteen violations of the Consent Order (rather than the six mentioned in the Renewed Contempt Motion, and although some – such as plumbing and HVAC issues – were encompassed in the Motion, others were not). (H'g Trans. Mar. 13, 2023 at pages/lines 8:2-10:19.) The District presented the testimony of seven witnesses as well as documentary evidence. The seven witnesses who testified for the District included only three tenants: Ms. Cooper, Ms. Gladden, and Ms. Bray. The District also called Stacy Kahatapitiya (an employee of ARC Environmental, a firm that had previously done some mold assessment work at the Property), Joseph Nichols (an employee of TRC Engineering, a firm that had previously done some assessment of the hot water and plumbing systems at Marbury Plaza), Charles Bunn (an employee of White Glove Commercial Cleaning, a firm that provides janitorial

services and general repair work at Marbury Plaza), and Dale McGuire (an employee of ACM Services, a firm that had done some mold remediation work at the Property).

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