No. 23-CV-422

IN THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA COURT OF APPEAL Received 06/17/2024 05:40 PM

MP PPH, LLC, APPELLANT,

V.

DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA, et al., APPELLEES.

ON APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIEF FOR APPELLEE THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA

BRIAN L. SCHWALB Attorney General for the District of Columbia

CAROLINE S. VAN ZILE Solicitor General

ASHWIN P. PHATAK Principal Deputy Solicitor General

GRAHAM E. PHILLIPS Deputy Solicitor General

*MARCELLA COBURN Assistant Attorney General Office of the Solicitor General

Office of the Attorney General 400 6th Street, NW, Suite 8100 Washington, D.C. 20001 (202) 724-5693

*Counsel expected to argue

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

stoppages and near-stoppages, showing that MP PPH violated the requirement that it expeditiously and fully fund all repairs and replacements. App. 136-37; see 3/14/23 Tr. 17-19 (failure to pay mold remediator resulted in four months with no mold remediation); 3/13/23 Tr. 103-04 (similar work stoppage in December 2022 because MP PPH failed to pay mold assessor); 3/13/23 Tr. 179-82 (general maintenance contractor describes issues with nonpayment since mid-2021, was at one point owed \$450,000 by MP PPH, and considered work stoppage).

The Superior Court plainly had a firm factual basis for concluding that MP PPH violated each of these provisions of the consent order, and it reasonably rejected MP PPH's defenses of substantial compliance or impossibility where they were raised.

2. MP PPH's single challenge to the Superior Court's contempt determinations lacks merit.

On appeal, MP PPH does not dispute that it was in flagrant violation of more than a dozen provisions of the consent order and that no defense applies. In particular, MP PPH does not challenge the Superior Court's contempt findings on mold assessment, mold remediation, plumbing assessment, plumbing remediation, HVAC assessment, HVAC remediation, CTI inspection repairs, laundry facilities, exterminations, elevators, the wheelchair lift, or expeditiously and fully funding all repairs and replacements. *See* Br. 26-50. MP PPH has therefore waived any

argument that it was not properly held in contempt on *all* of these provisions. *See Fells v. Serv. Emps. Int'l Union*, 281 A.3d 572, 579 & n.3 (D.C. 2022).³

MP PPH does insist that the consent order was not "entered" or "effective" until March 2, 2022, relying on the omnibus order from that date. Br. 24, 39 n.8. But that ignores the mountain of evidence showing that the consent order was actually entered and effective when the court approved it at the hearing on January 28 (and indeed, that the parties were prepared for it to be effective as early as January 4). *See supra* p. 6-7 & n.1. MP PPH offers no argument why it was not "subject to the terms" of the consent order at that time. *D.D.*, 550 A.2d at 43. Nor does MP PPH explain why the supposed discrepancy in the date shows that the Superior Court abused its discretion. In any event, as Judge Kravitz explained, "[e]ven if the court were to conclude that the consent order took effect on March 2, 2022, the court

_

At most, MP PPH argues that tenant Francine Gladden's testimony about the broken wheelchair lift "was at least insufficient to rise to the required level of clear and convincing proof." Br. 33. But Gladden's testimony was not the basis of the Superior Court's determination that MP PPH violated the consent order's provision related to the wheelchair lift. As the court explained, "[i]t is uncontested that a contractor hired by MP PPH to assess the wheelchair lift recommended that the lift be replaced, and that MP PPH did not follow the recommendation." App. 136; see SA 99-100 para. 3(c). That obviously violated the consent order's requirement that MP PPH "engage a contractor" to "replace[] elevators or chairlifts [if the assessment deems it] to be necessary." App. 69. Even now, MP PPH does not argue that it substantially complied with that requirement.

would readily find multiple violations of the order, as MP PPH remained in extensive noncompliance more than 120 days after March 2, 2022." App. 119.

The only violation of the consent order that MP PPH now disputes is whether the swimming pool was open to tenants in summer 2022. Br. 35-36 (claiming "insufficient evidence of noncompliance at the time of the evidentiary hearing"). That effort fails. A resident testified that the pool was open only for a week that summer, 3/13/23 Tr. 49-50, and MP PPH's witness did not contradict that statement—indeed, Rabin acknowledged that the pool opened late in the season, though he did not know for how long, and thought it was open through Labor Day, 3/14/23 Tr. 71. The consent order required the pool to be open by May 28, App. 68-69, a deadline that not even MP PPH contends was met. And even if the Superior Court's determination of this single violation was erroneous, it would not matter. The clear violation of 13 other health and safety provisions of the consent order remain, and as discussed infra Part I.B, together they amply justify the Superior Court's contempt sanctions. Indeed, the Superior Court did not even mention the swimming pool violation in explaining its choice of sanction. See App. 139-40.

B. The Superior Court properly imposed the rent abatement to compensate the individuals aggrieved by the egregious conditions at the property and to coerce MP PPH's compliance with the consent order.

Having found a violation of a court order, "the trial judge enjoys broad discretionary powers in designing appropriate orders for contemptuous conduct."

Jerry M., 571 A.2d at 191. "Although the sanctions the [c]ourt imposes must be adapted to the particular circumstances of the case, and . . . should be related to the [c]ourt's interest in ensuring compliance with the underlying court order, the [c]ourt 'may require the contemnor to perform affirmative acts, even though these actions were not mandated by the underlying decree,' if requiring such acts is necessary 'to coerce the contemnors into compliance with the court's order and to compensate the complainant for losses sustained." Loewinger, 977 A.2d at 923 (quoting Jerry M., 571 A.2d at 191, and W. Tex. Util. Co. v. NLRB, 206 F.2d 442, 448 (D.C. Cir. 1953)) (citations omitted). "The measure of the court's power in civil contempt proceedings is determined by the requirements of full remedial relief," which in addition to affirmative acts may include "the payment of money." McComb v. Jacksonville Paper Co., 336 U.S. 187, 193-94 (1949). In fashioning full remedial relief, "the court must consider the character and magnitude of the harm threatened by the continued violation, and the probable effectiveness of any suggested sanction in bringing about the desired result." Jerry M., 571 A.2d at 190 (quoting United Mine Workers, 330 U.S. at 304). The options available to the court are "numerous even if not unlimited." Id. at 191 n.29.

The Superior Court, which presided over a three-day evidentiary hearing and received both pre- and post-hearing briefing, was in the best position to determine how to compensate the individuals aggrieved by MP PPH's past noncompliance and

to coerce MP PPH's future compliance with the consent order. In carefully crafting the rent abatement and other sanctions, the Superior Court properly exercised its broad discretion to accomplish both goals "at the same time." App. 139.

Compensation. The court first considered the record evidence establishing the "character and magnitude of the harm threatened by MP PPH's continued violation" of the consent order, highlighting the "severity of the unsafe and unsanitary conditions the residents of the complex have been forced to endure these many months." App. 139. The "pervasive mold, floods, leaks, and insect and rodent infestations, along with the malfunctioning plumbing and HVAC systems and the broken elevators and wheelchair lift—all of which the residents of Marbury Plaza have suffered through because of MP PPH's abject contempt for the court's order—have greatly diminished the value of the residents' tenancies." App. 139.

There is ample support for that determination in the record. To start, MP PPH's violations were complex-wide. One mold remediation company found mold "in essentially every unit and/or area in which it worked." App. 98; *see also* 3/14/23 Tr. 117. Another estimated that "50 to 60 percent" of units required mold remediation. 3/14/23 Tr. 11-12. And of those units, a "significant number" would require sufficiently long-term structural work to remediate mold that tenants would have to be relocated. 3/14/23 Tr. 16; 3/15/23 Tr. 64 (estimating "at least probably 60 to 75 units that will have to be moved" for mold remediation), 67 (agreeing that

testified about mold not just in their own units, but in other units and common areas. *See*, *e.g.*, 3/13/23 Tr. 57, 86, 137, 143. So did MP PPH's own witnesses. *See*, *e.g.*, 3/14/23 Tr. 33 ("There was a corrective order issued by [the government] on the wetness and the mold inside the parking garages."). Mold contamination constitutes a "serious threat[] to the health [and] safety" of tenants that was exacerbated by MP PPH's egregious delays in assessment and mediation. *See* D.C. Code § 42-3651.02(c)(2) (defining "contamination" as a "serious threat" warranting appointment of a receiver if unabated).

Chronically deficient building-wide systems, like failing plumbing (causing persistent leaks and mold) and faulty HVAC, also harmed tenants throughout the whole complex. MP PPH's own witness testified that "[i]t was recommended that the majority of—or really all of the plumbing be replaced at the property." 3/14/23 Tr. 96. That is because a survey (not even a full assessment) from July 2022 "found pretty significant issues with the plumbing of the property." 3/15/23 Tr. 231. Another witness, who did general maintenance at Marbury Plaza, said he worked on leaks at the property "[p]retty much every day." 3/13/23 Tr. 175-76. Tenants also testified to leaks in their own units, *see*, *e.g.*, 3/13/23 Tr. 30, 72, 143, and in common areas, *see* 3/13/23 Tr. 137. As the Superior Court explained, because MP PPH never conducted the required full assessment of the property's plumbing, it never

conducted the required remediation either. App. 125-26. There were also longstanding issues with air conditioning, including multi-week outages in the height of summer, as well as heat and hot water failures at Marbury Plaza. 3/13/23 Tr. 146-47 (Nichols explaining problems with the broken hot water system in spring 2022); Michael Brice-Saddler, Once a Black middle-class haven, a D.C. apartment complex falls into disrepair, Wash. Post (June 12, 2021), https://tinyurl.com/mtdsf94h (describing an air conditioning outage that lasted a month in summer 2021); see generally SA 34-35. And according to MP PPH's property manager's notes on "air conditioning" in July 2022, the "[c]irculator pump in the 2330 [b]uilding [kept] shutting down." 3/14/23 Tr. 107. Again, because MP PPH never conducted the required full assessment of the property's HVAC, it never conducted the required remediation of that system either. App. 127-28.

Insect and rodent infestations were a persistent problem throughout the complex too. *See* App. 78 (DCRA inspections from 2017 to November 2021 have repeatedly found violations for mice and pest infestations); 3/13/23 Tr. 123 ("lots and lots of rats" in common areas), 124 (exterminators had only come to tenant's unit once since 2021). MP PPH's ongoing failure to remediate this "[v]ermin or rat infestation" also poses a "serious threat" to tenants. D.C. Code § 42-3651.02(c)(2).

Constantly broken elevators and nonfunctional laundry facilities also affect the quality of life for most tenants. MP PPH's seven elevators across three buildings

were in such bad shape that the assessment recommended they all be replaced. App. 134. Given that dire starting point, MP PPH's egregious delays—not beginning the replacement project until five months after the deadline, with a completion date eighteen months after the deadline, App. 134—plainly harmed its residents en masse. And MP PPH itself admitted that "the laundry facilities in one of the high-rise towers—home to approximately 1,000 residents—ha[d] not been operational since the issuance of the consent order and remain[ed] unavailable" as of the contempt order. App. 129. No laundry facilities for nearly half the residents, particularly when combined with the malfunctioning elevators, creates significant building-wide harm. Finally, the broken wheelchair lift is an unacceptable burden on residents with disabilities. MP PPH's refusal, in violation of the consent order, to replace its sole wheelchair lift and then needing to "regularly" call for service when it breaks, App. 136, imposed needless suffering on residents with disabilities and their families.

Given the severity and complex-wide nature of these harms to tenants, the Superior Court reasonably concluded that a substantial rent abatement for all tenants would properly serve the compensatory aims of civil contempt. The court was not, however, required to assess whether each of Marbury Plaza's 2,500 tenants had lost half the value of their tenancy. That is so because tenant compensation was only *part* of the purpose served by the rent abatement.

Coercion. The rent abatement also served to coerce MP PPH into compliance with the consent order. In assessing the "probable effectiveness of [the] sanction" in bringing about such compliance, *Jerry M.*, 571 A.2d at 190, the court reasonably judged that a heavy hand was necessary. MP PPH had, after all, brazenly flouted numerous provisions of the consent order for months on end. And its excuses lacked merit. In particular, the court rejected as specious MP PPH's purportedly "precarious financial condition," explaining that MP PPH's members, Pilavas and his wife, "have extensive real estate holdings—totaling more than 1,500 residential units and more than 40 office suites in at least three states and the District of Columbia—and that they have repeatedly moved more than \$10 million in and out of MP PPH, seemingly whenever doing so advanced their investment purposes."

The court also found that it was MP PPH's "own unwillingness to comply or to invest the money necessary for full compliance that led to its violations of the order." App. 138. MP PPH had repeatedly failed to pay its contractors, leading to work stoppages on critical projects like mold remediation, and "cut corners whenever possible." App. 137. It also failed to make a "diligent and energetic" effort in carrying out the consent order; on most provisions, it barely made "a token effort to comply." *D.D.*, 550 A.2d at 44. The court reasonably concluded that a stiff sanction was needed to break through this intransigence. Given the combination of

this need to forcefully coerce MP PPH and the goal of compensating the injured tenants, the 50% rent abatement was not an abuse of the court's broad discretion.

II. MP PPH's Challenges To The Contempt Sanctions Lack Merit.

Instead of meaningfully disputing the fact or extent of its contempt, MP PPH attacks the sanctions Judge Kravitz imposed and, at times, Judge Kravitz himself. MP PPH complains that the 50% rent abatement and other sanctions are unsupported by the facts, unavailable under the law, or were not imposed in accordance with procedure.

As a threshold matter, many of MP PPH's arguments against the contempt sanctions are forfeited because they were not timely raised to the trial court. The District's post-hearing brief proposed an escalating rent abatement beginning at 10% and increasing to 50% if MP PPH did not comply with the consent order. SA 50-52. MP PPH had the chance to respond in its brief, yet it made no argument that such an abatement was legally barred for any reason. SA 72-73. And after the Superior Court asked the District during closing arguments whether it could impose both retrospective and prospective rent abatements (to which the District said yes), MP PPH failed to address rent abatement in its closing argument at all. 4/13/23 Tr. 6-8, 13-23. MP PPH's newfound arguments that the rent abatement was fundamentally improper, see infra Parts II.B, C, and D, are therefore forfeited. L.S. v. D.C. Dep't

on Disability Servs., 285 A.3d 165, 172 n.9 (D.C. 2022) ("Arguments not raised in the trial court are normally spurned on appeal." (internal quotation marks omitted)).

If the Court chooses to reach those arguments, however, they all fail. The Superior Court's order is lawful under its "broad discretionary power . . . to grant full relief through the fashioning of appropriate remedial measures." *Loewinger*, 977 A.2d at 923.

A. The factual findings underpinning the contempt sanctions are not clearly erroneous.

MP PPH first claims that the Superior Court's sanctions rest on "general" findings of fact about the appalling conditions at Marbury Plaza applicable to all 2,500 residents that could not possibly have been supported by just three residents' testimony. Br. 28-29. Therefore, MP PPH urges, the court's conclusions about the conditions are "plainly wrong or without evidence to support them." Br. 28.

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